IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. _____

JUDY A. BUENOANO,

Appellant,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

SUMMARY INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON APPEAL OF DENIAL OF MOTION FOR FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.850 RELIEF

> LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

BILLY H. NOLAS Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 806821

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE

1533 South Monroe Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32301

(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

<u>INTRODUCTION: THE CLAIM INVOLVED IN</u> THIS ACTION IS ONE OF GREAT IMPORTANCE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Ms. Buenoano was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death in Florida's electric chair. The conviction and sentence were affirmed on appeal. Buenoano v. State, 527

So. 2d 194 (Fla. June 23, 1988). A Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., motion was subsequently filed and summarily denied. A Petition for Habeas Corpus Relief was also filed in the Florida Supreme Court. The Florida Supreme Court denied relief. Buenoano v. State, 15 F.L.W. 196 (Fla. Apr. 5, 1990).

On May 17, 1990, a second death warrant was signed, scheduling Ms. Buenoano's execution for June 19, 1990. Ms. Buenoano filed the instant Rule 3.850 motion, which was denied without an evidentiary hearing. A temporary stay of execution was thereafter entered by this Honorable Court.

a

a

a

a

GROUNDS FOR RELIEF

Ms. Buenoano submits that the execution of her sentence of death under the present system for the carrying out of a state-sanctioned execution in Florida would violate the eighth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution, Florida's statutes and Florida's laws, for the reasons set forth in the Rule 3.850 motion and in the body of this brief,

THE EXECUTION OF JUDY A. BUENDANO PURSUANT TO THE STATE OF FLORIDA'S CURRENT PROCEDURES FOR THE CARRYING OUT OF THE EXECUTION OF A SENTENCE OF DEATH SHALL CONSTITUTE UNNECESSARY CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT, IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND BECAUSE THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS CANNOT PROFESSIONALLY CARRY OUT THE EXECUTION OF A SENTENCE OF DEATH UNDER ITS CURRENT PROCEDURES WITHOUT UNNECESSARILY INFLICTING TORTURE AND PAIN UPON THE DEATH-SENTENCED PRISONER THE EXECUTION OF THIS DEATH SENTENCE SHOULD BE PROHIBITED AND STAYED.

Ms. Buenoano is not challenging the <u>proper</u> carrying out of an execution by electrocution. This claim is based on the fact that the DOC will not carry it out properly, is not competent to do so, yet refuses to correct the problems in its equipment -- problems which the DOC <u>knows</u> about. Jesse Tafero's botched execution was no fluke. It will happen again -- the same electrode, one which does not conduct sufficient voltage, is still the one being used. Rather than facing up to the problem, the DOC has attempted to cover it up. After Mr. Tafero's execution, the DOC's initial reports were:

There was no evidence of flame charring of any portion of the head.

(Department of Corrections [DOC] Report concerning the execution of Jesse Tafero, p. 5) (App. 9, p. 5).

REPORTER: So the sponge didn't cause any charring?

DOC SECRETARY RICHARD DUGGER: No there was no charring evidence on the skull itself caused by the sponge.

(Governor's Press Conference, May 8, 1990).

а

a

a

а

The photographs contained at pages 5-7 of the Rule 3.850 motion graphically depict that the DOC's representations, even **from** the outset, did not comport with the facts (See also App. 10). Neither did the DOC's representations that Mr. Tafero did not suffer:

(b) It is not possible to say that Mr. Tafero was "unconscious" after the first and second applications of electricity. Furthermore, it is medically and scientifically irresponsible to reach and articulate such a conclusion based on the observed reactions of Mr. Tafero during the execution. Indeed, it is not unlikely that he was conscious after the first, or first and second applications of current • • •

(Affidavit of Dr. Robert H. Kirschner, M.D., Deputy Chief Medical Examiner, Cook County, Illinois) (App. 19).

The facts giving rise to this claim were obviously unknown to Ms. Buenoano at the time of her original motion to vacate judgment and sentence. Ms. Buenoano's counsel, like the courts, believed that the Department of Corrections authorities charged with the responsibility of carrying out state-sanctioned executions in Florida conducted that task in a professionally competent manner. All concerned relied on the DOC's representations that it was acting competently. It is only in the last few weeks that the facts have come to light demonstrating that the DOC's representations leave quite a great deal to be desired.

It was only recently that the facts have come to light giving rise to this claim, facts demonstrating that whatever professional competence DOC purported to possess is sorely lacking. As early as 1986 the DOC knew that its electric chair was not functioning properly, yet it hid these facts from all concerned (See Affidavit of Fred Leuchter, Jr., quoted in the introduction to this brief and below; see also Affidavit of Rob Adair, quoted below).

An inmate about to be executed in Florida will likely be burned and tortured during that execution, will be conscious during the event, and will suffer pain. Death is not instantaneous -- the prisoner suffers, and suffers greatly. The facts demonstrate that the DOC is incompetent to carry out executions otherwise. And the DOC would prefer to side-step the issue, rather than facing up to its lack of competency. These facts and the other factual allegations presented in this case which give rise to this claim only first became known beginning on the early morning of May 4, 1990. This claim is thus properly brought in the instant motion to vacate judgment, as Rule 3.850 itself makes plain. Evidentiary resolution is appropriate.

а

а

Supposedly, we do not burn people to death in this country, and we do not torture them. The eighth amendment prohibits such things. But Jesse Tafero was burned and tortured. And, given the DOC we are dealing with, it will happen again. Because the instant claim involves the bedrock eighth amendment prohibition against torture and because a reasonable likelihood exists that executions carried out by the Florida Department of Corrections will involve the inflicting of unnecessary pain and suffering, judicial intervention is warranted.

What has been learned regarding the last botched execution (often through unintentional revelation by the Department of Corrections) is startling indeed. Many of the facts have only come to light because of an inquiry by the Florida Legislature. Contrary to the Department of Corrections' conclusions, the questions concerning its professional competency arising from the burning and torture of a human being cannot satisfactorily be answered by submitting a household sponge to the heat of a common bread toaster — the eighth amendment simply demands more respect for human dignity. But that is all that the DOC has done to address the problem.

The torture-execution of Jesse Tafero had nothing whatsoever to do with the substitution of a synthetic sponge (Cf., DOC Report at 5)(App. 9). In fact, as discussed in the 3.850 motion, current electric chair skull cap designs involve synthetic sponges. South Carolina, Indiana and Tennessee all utilize synthetic sponges in their electric chair helmets and South Carolina has carried out four successful executions with synthetic sponges unaccompanied by the macabre specter attendant to the execution of Mr. Tafero. The manner by which the sponge used on Mr. Tafero was procured by the DOC was sheer stupidity, but the problem was not the sponge.

Jesse Joseph Tafero was burned alive in Florida's electric chair. There is no assurance that Judy Buenoano will also not be

burned alive. ⁴ The eighth amendment, however, forbids the unnecessary infliction of cruel, excessive and unusual punishments. And the punishments that the DOC will likely inflict have not been sanctioned by any court. To state the obvious, the circuit court did not rule that Ms. Buenoano should be tortured and burned when it sentenced her to death.

The eighth amendment "draw(s) its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 239, 242 (1972), citing Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958). As Furman made clear:

The basis of the concept underlying the first and unusual punishment Clausel is nothing less than the dignity of man. While the state has the power to punish, the [Clause] stands to assure that this power be exercised within the limits of civilized standards.

* * *

punishment must not be so severe as to be degrading to dignity of human beings. The infliction of an extremely severe punishment will often entail physical suffering yet the framers also knew 'that there could be exercises of cruelty by laws other than those which inflicted bodily pain or mutilation.' Even though '(there may be involved no physical mistreatment, no primitive torture, severe mental pain may be inherent in the infliction of a particular punishment.

* * *

⁴Ms, Buenoano is currently housed at Broward Correctional Institution. She will be transported prior to her scheduled execution to the Florida State Prison. Florida has only one electric chair at one facility. This is the same chair at the same facility in which Mr. Tafero was executed -- the Florida State Prison.

... [But m]ore than the presence of pain, however, is comprehended in the judgment that the extreme severity of a punishment makes it degrading to the dignity of human beings. The barbaric punishments condemned by history, punishments which inflict torture such as the rack, the thumb screw, the iron boot, the stretching of the limbs, and the like, ' are, of course, 'attended by acute pain and suffering.' When we consider why they have been condemned, however, we realize that the pain involved is not the only reason. The true significance of these punishments is that they treat members of the human race as nonhumans, as objects to be toyed with and discarded. They are thus inconsistent with the fundamental premise of the clause that even the vilest criminal remains a human being possessed of common human dignity,

Furman, supra, 408 U.S. at 271-3 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). It is against this backdrop that the Appellant's request for an evidentiary hearing should be considered.

At approximately 7:00 a.m. on the early morning of May 4,
1990, Jesse Tafero was escorted into the Death Chamber at the
Florida State Prison to be executed. Inside the chamber with Mr.
Tafero were: Superintendent Tom Barton; L. E. Turner, Assistant
Superintendent for Operations; Lt. Don Davis, Administrative
Officer; A. D. Thorton, Chief Correctional Officer; Dr. Frank
Kilgo, Chief Medical Officer; Bill Mathews, Physician's
Assistant; Ron Thornton, Maintenance Construction Supervisor; and
Al Martin, Assistant Maintenance Construction Supervisor. (DOC
Report at 1) (App. 9). In the witness room were the official
witnesses, including two former Florida Highway Patrol officers,
in addition to various other law enforcement officers and
Department of Corrections personnel. Also in attendance were the
designated members of the National and Florida Media Corps,

including: Cynthia Barnett of the Gainesville Sun; Ellen McGarraghan of the Miami Herald; Bruce Ritche of the Florida Times Union; Mark Davis of the Tampa Tribune; Ronald Word of the Associated Press; and Larry Keller of the Ft. Lauderdale Sun Sentinel. Other individuals including Gary McClain of the Inspector General's Office of the Department of Corrections and the Rev. Robert Baker were also present to witness. The "unfortunate circumstances • • result[ing] in the rather bizarre visual accounts of the execution" (App. 9, DOC report), were now only six minutes away. Cynthia Barnett described what happened next:

People told me what executions would be like. They used adjectives like sterile, clinical.

Another reporter who had seen one told me a toddler could be standing in the middle of the death chamber during an execution at Florida State Prison and never know what happened.

But a toddler would have known what happened to Jessie Joseph Tafero, a man whose execution was far from sterile.

Tafero was led into the death chamber Friday morning at 7:02. His eyes were wide, perhaps with fear, but he appeared brave --making eye contact with the almost 40 witnesses who were crowded behind a large Plexiglas window, waiting to watch him die.

He nodded to several, smiled at a few. Maybe he had heard the same adjectives I had.

He looked straight ahead as five men fastened him to the three-legged, oak electric chair with leather straps across his chest, hips and arms. A leather boot containing an electrode was fastened to his shaven right leg.

After his final statement, Tafero closed his eyes as a guard strapped his mouth tightly. Next, a skullcap and black leather mask were fastened around his head.

At that time, a small sponge attached to his skullcap to conduct electricity was the last thing I was thinking about. But now I can't stop thinking about it. It turned out to be the wrong king of sponge, so wrong it changed the reputed sterility of the electric chair into a scene that more than bordered on the grotesque.

When the first, automated surge of electricity pumped through Jessie Tafero, the time was 7:06 a.m. His body lifted against its leather confines and contracted violently.

Department of Corrections officials said later that Tafero died at that point. $_{\rm I}$ thought he had died at that point, and when I saw what came next, I hoped he had.

Fire began to jump from the top of his leather hood as if he had hair styled in a bizarre punk fashion and colored orange. Smoke began to surge from his head also as he clenched his fists and continued to breathe.

The executioner's face was hidden with a black hood, but you could see his eyes through a slot in his hiding place. They were large and round and shocked, maybe even as shocked as mine.

After a full minute, Tafero began to move his head. Shortly after that, the prison superintendent signaled the executioner to apply a second jolt -- this time manually. Something obviously had gone wrong.

Tafero's head stopped moving with jolt No. 2, but his body did not. It kept pushing up against the leather straps, the chest growing large in what appeared to be a sharply drawn breath. The flames shot up again, this time about 6 inches above his head. The smoke piping up from beneath his hood now had reached the ceiling of the death chamber, which was beginning to resemble the

a

set of a freakish 1950s science-fiction thriller.

And it still wasn't over. At 7:09, I noted on my pad, "The fists are clenched and there's another deep chest movement...and another...another about 40 seconds later...now a really big chest movement. He's moving."

At 7:10 a.m., the executioner produced the third and final surge of power. The surges sound like you would expect them to. They zap. I don't remember panicking, but my notes, written in a badly shaken scrawl, indicated I was close.

"They've done it again...flames coming out of the head...lots and lots of smoke."

Tafero's fists were still clenched, but not as tightly. Just before 7:12, a doctor emerged to check his heartbeat.

All was clinical once again. Jessie Tafero was pronounced dead at 7:13 a.m.

Inside the death chamber, prison officials waited patiently next to Tafero's erect, dead body for the witnesses to leave. For several seconds, no one in the witness room moved.

(The Gainesville Sun, Saturday, May 5, 1990, at 1) (App. 2).

Ellen McGarraghan reported the events as follows:

FLAMES AND SMOKE SPEW FROM FACE MASK AS POLICEMEN'S SLAYER SITS IN THE CHAIR

Starke, Fla. -- The electrocution of Jessie Tafero in the big chair at Florida State Prison went awry Friday morning. Flames and smoke rose from his head as the headset conducting the killer current to his body caught on fire.

For four minutes, Tafero continued to breath and slowly nod his head as his executioners repeatedly turned the current on and off. Each time they turned the switch back on, flames shot out and smoke rose from underneath the black mask covering his face.

- - -

Tafero, ... died a messy, violent death.

Ordinarily, state executions turn on current to the chair just once to immobilize and kill the condemned prisoner who is strapped in with leather bands and wired head and leg. But Tafero withstood two jolts -- still visibly breathing and moving his head -- before a third try, at 7:10 a.m., rendering him motionless.

"There was a fault in the headpiece," Department of Corrections spokesman Bob Macmaster said later.

a

a

Nevertheless, Macmaster maintained that Tafero •• despite his breathing •• died during the first administration of electricity. The breathing, prison officials assert, was involuntary, a motion undertaken by Tafero's nervous system after his death.

The fault in the headpiece was a sponge, soaked in saline and strapped to Tafero's skull, that caught fire as current passed through it, Macmaster said.

The sponge rests on a condemned prisoner's shaved head underneath a leather and metal headset strapped and bolted into place. The damp sponge conveys the 2,000 volts and 14 amps of current into the prisoner's skull, killing him.

In each of the 21 other executions carried out in Florida since the resurrection of the death penalty in 1979, the same natural ocean sponge has been used to convey the deadly current. But for Tafero's execution, the prison bought a new sponge, probably synthetic, and it burst into flames each time the current was turned on, Macmaster said.

"It was not the appropriate sponge," he said.

At 5 a.m., prison officials shaved Tafero's head, shaved his right leg, and dressed him in a pale blue shirt and dark blue trousers. He was lead into the death chamber at 7 a.m.

Tafero, wan, thin, his brown eyes piercing and angry, had these last words before the executioners fixed the faulty headpiece to his skull:

"Well, I'd like to say that the death penalty, as applied in the states, is very arbitrary and capricious.

"I think it's very unfair. I think it's time that everyone wakes up to see that the same laws that can go against crime can go against you tomorrow."

When the fire and smoke subsided, Tafero's body was rigid in the big oak chair, his fists clenched, flesh flushed. There was a sore on his right pinkie finger where it had dug into the wood.

Two flecks of black ash had fallen from the headset to his shoulders, staining the new dress shirt he will be buried in.

(The Miami Herald, Saturday, May 5, 1990, at 1) (App. 5). Ronald

Word's account for the wire service was similar:

FLORIDA EXECUTION BECOMES GRUESOME DISPLAY

Gov. Martinez requests an investigation after jolts of electricity cause flames and smoke to rise from the hooded head of a condemned inmate during an execution.

(AP) STARKE •• A man who murdered two police officers 14 years ago was executed Friday with three jolts of electricity that produced flames, sparks and smoke from his masked head.

Death penalty opponents described the execution as a torture, and Florida Gov. Bob Martinez immediately requested an investigation of the technical problems carrying out the sentence.

Jessie Joseph Tafero, 43, condemned for the shooting deaths of Highway Patrol Trooper Phillip Black and visiting Canadian constable Donald Irwin, died in the electric chair at 7:13 a.m. at Florida State Prison near Starke.

The complications from the execution immediately brought controversy.

The governor, who has made support of the death penalty a part of his re-election campaign, instructed Department of Corrections officials to prepare a report on the technical problems. But he defended the use of the death penalty, saying that Tafero coldly took the lives of the two officers.

"It is unfortunate that this incident affected the execution, but it is far more unfortunate that it took 14 years to bring to justice a man who killed two police officers," Martinez said.

Flames rose about 6 inches from the top of Tafero's hooded head as the power was applied, and a cloud of smoke hung near the ceiling.

He lunged back in the oak chair, his hands tightening into balls, during the first two jolts, but his left leg twitched and he still appeared to be breathing afterward in the most gruesome execution at the prison in recent years.

Standard procedure for executions is to administer one two-minute, 2,000-volt electrical cycle. In Tafero's case, however, the executioner interrupted cycle because of the smoke and flames.

* * *

"We believe he was dead after the first couple of **seconds**," Macmaster said.

Mark Olive, an Atlanta lawyer who represented Tafero, said Martinez should ask for an independent investigation and suspend further executions until the problems at Florida State Prison have been resolved.

"The state cannot bring a person to justice by torturing them," said Olive.

"Torture, is per se, cruel and unusual punishment."

Jon Peck, spokesman for Martinez, said the Corrections Department thought the report would be completed before Wednesday's scheduled execution of Bennie Demps.

(<u>St. Petersburs Times</u>, May 5, 1990, at 1A)(App. 3). Mr. Word's account to his fellow journalists also noted, revealingly:

"This is the first time I've ever seen visible sparks and flames coming from the head," said veteran Associate Press reporter Ron Word, who has witnesses 11 executions.
"In addition, this is the first time I've seen them turn on the power three times."

(<u>Miami Herald</u>, May 5, 1990, at 1)(App. 5). Another veteran observer of Florida executions, Bruce Ritchie, wrote:

I watched smoke and flames rise from the head of Jessie Tafero yesterday during his execution. After the first two jolts of electricity, I saw him breathe, and I thought he might be alive. But after the third jolt, I knew he was dead.

It was the third execution I have watched. I don't know if I want to watch another.

I looked at Tafero after the first jolt of electricity. His body slowly relaxed into the chair. This was unlike the other executions I had watched. Then I noticed his heart beating through his blue dress shirt, which was tight against his chest. It appeared to be a rapid, fluttering beat.

Then his shoulders rose, but I didn't know why. Then I realized he was inhaling deeply. Then he exhaled. A pause. Then another deep inhale, and a slow exhale. Pause. Then another.

The current was applied again and, after it ended, Tafero still appeared to be breathing. A third jolt and it was over. Tafero was pronounced dead.

As in past executions, I could not see the faces of the condemned nor the executioner. But I could see the face of Florida State Prison Superintendent Tom Barton, and this time —— for the first time —— I saw him betray a slight trace of emotion.

Barton, whose expression remained firmly unemotional in the two previous executions I witnessed, seemed to show consternation and then pain as an electrical malfunction three times caused smoke and flame to rise from Tafero's head.

The death chamber is separated by plexiglass from the witness room. So there is no sound except for the last statement given by the inmate over a microphone and sound system and the scribbling sound of reporters.

In previous executions, I could tell when the electrical current began because there was the sound of a mechanical thump and a hum from somewhere. Then the inmate's body would instantly stiffen upright in the chair.

A small puff of smoke would rise from an electrode attached to the immate's lower right calf. In one execution, the immate's flattened hand instantly tightened into a fist after the current was applied.

Barton would remain impassive throughout the application of the electrical current, which usually lasted about one minute. His face offered only an expression of firm duty.

But yesterday was different.

Tafero's body did not just stiffen upright when the electricity was applied at 7:06 a.m., it seemed to reel backward.

Smoke rose from the immate's head not his leg. Within seconds, small sparks or flames appeared from the right side of the shroud that hid his face.

The electrical current ended quickly -- quicker than usual, it seemed -- and the flame disappeared. "Had one minute passed already?" I thought to myself. I looked at

the clock, but it seemed that less than 30 seconds had elapsed.

I looked to Barton to see what he would do.

Barton did nothing except stare at Tafero, then past him. He appeared to be glaring in consternation in the direction of Ronald Thornton, prison maintenance chief.

Thornton was wearing rubber electrician's gloves. He had applied the skullcap to Tafero's head.

Then I looked to Lt. Don Davis, who haremained on the telephone to the Governor's Office. Davis was speaking into the receiver. Then he said something to Barton that I couldn't hear.

There was the humming sound again, and Tafero's body reeled backward again. The clock on the wall showed 7:08 a.m.

This time, 3-inch flames shot from the left side of the facial shroud, and there was more smoke.

Quickly the current ended, perhaps in about 20 seconds this time. Again the body slowly came to a rest.

After the pause, there was the heartbeat again. Another deep inhale and an exhale. Another inhale and an exhale.

Tafero's left hand was clenched into a fist except for the little finger, which was straight. But the hand had the same ashen color I had seen in the two inmates whose executions I had witnessed.

I looked to Barton and saw a face that had lost its tightness and seemed to sag. Duty and frustration seemed replaced by pain and uncertainty, but he gazed straight ahead.

Barton said something to Thornton, and Thornton spoke back. Then Barton paused, and he swallowed.

Davis spoke again into the telephone, listened, and then turned to Barton and said

something. Barton turned and nodded to the executioner in the booth behind him.

There was the hum again, and the body reeled again. Five-inch flames quickly burned from the left side of the shroud, and smaller ones burned to the right. It was 7:10 a.m.

The hum was gone again, perhaps in 30 seconds. But the body did not relax this time. The little finger on the left hand was now part of the fist.

There was no breathing or visible heartbeat. After a pause, one prison doctor, then another, checked for the inmate's pulse and heartbeat.

At 7:13 a.m., Frank Kilgo, the prison's chief health officer, spoke in Barton's direction.

Then Davis walked across the room, lifted a microphone which was wired to the witness booth, and said, "The sentence of Jesse Tafero has been carried out at 7:13 a.m."

As I exited the room with other witnesses and reporters, I noticed Barton standing against the wall. His expression was somber and his hands were clasped down in front of him, and he was slowly twiddling his thumbs.

I never had noticed him twiddling his thumbs before.

(Florida Times-Union, May 5, 1990, at 1) (App. 1).

Affidavits from the Department's own employees were no less "bizarre". Secretary Dugger found them to be an "accurate assessment of the problem" (Secretary Dugger's letter to the Hon. Bob Martinez, May 8, 1990, at 1) (App. 9). They are as follows:

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