JUDY A. BUENOANO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 76150 JUN 18 1050

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DENIAL OF POST CONVICTION RELIEF IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

•

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla.Bar **#302015 210** N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL **32114** (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The execution of a death sentence is solely an executive function and the lower court was without jurisdiction to entertain the claim that death by electrocution in Florida constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

2. The motion to vacate judgment and sentence raises a ground for relief which has long been the subject of litigation, Tafero's execution notwithstanding, and the failure to raise the claim in the previous Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion constitutes an abuse of procedure, so that if the lower court did have jurisdiction, it properly determined that Buenoano had abused the post conviction process.

3. The underlying basis for the claim has been litigated on numerous occasions and the claim should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal.

4. The execution of the death penalty has been found to be constitutional by all state and federal courts, glitches notwithstanding, and Buenoano has failed to make a *prima facie* showing that she is entitled to relief.

- 6 -

THE TRIAL COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THE EXECUTION OF A DEATH SENTENCE WHICH IS SOLELY AN EXECUTIVE FUNCTION AND THENINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT WAS AN IMPROPER FORUM IN WHICH TO RAISE THE CLAIM DEATH ΒY ELECTROCUTION THAT IN CONSTITUTES FLORIDA CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

At the outset, the State of Florida asserts that Buenoano's claim that death by electrocution in Florida constitutes cruel and unusual punishment is *improperly raised in a motion for post-conviction relief.* The gist of Buenoano's claim is that the use of electrocution by the Florida Department of Corrections as a means of execution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of both state and federal law. Such a claim is predicated <u>solely</u> upon the alleged circumstances attending the execution of Jesse Tafero. According to Buenoano, because Mr. Tafero's execution was less than perfect her own execution should have been prohibited by the circuit court.

injunctive Regarding Buenoano's request for and/or declaratory relief with respect to this claim, the State of Florida asserts that the circuit court was without jurisdiction to grant such relief. A proper Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion challenges the validity of a judgment and sentence, not the execution thereof or incidents thereto. The execution of a sentence of death is exclusively an executive function and authority over carrying out such ministerial function rests solely in the executive branch. Goode v. Wainwright, 448 So,2d 999 (Fla. 1984); Blitch v. Buchanan, 131 So. 151 (Fla. 1930); Sections 922.09, 922.10, 922.11, Fla. Stats. (1989).

I.

Buenoano's challenge concerning the technical functioning of the equipment by which electrocution is effectuated in no way affects the validity of the trial court's sentence. *Blitch v. Buchanan*, 131 So. at 157 (possibility of abuse does not invalidate authority which is legally conferred). Inasmuch as Buenoano's challenge to the actual execution of the sentence imposed by the trial court does <u>not</u> represent a challenge to the validity of the sentence itself, this claim is not properly raised in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. *See, Sawyer v. Wainwright*, 422 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); *Graham v. Vann*, 394 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Even assuming *arguendo* that the instant claim of error was properly cognizable in a Rule 3.850 motion, the trial court was still without jurisdiction over the parties which is necessary to the granting of the relief sought. Fla. Const. Art. V, Section 20. Moreover, inasmuch as Buenoano is actually seeking relief against an official of the State of Florida who resides in Tallahassee, Florida, venue does not lie in the Ninth Judicial Circuit to entertain such claim. *Florida Public Service Commission v. Triple A Enterprises, Inc.,* 387 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1960); *Smith v. Williams,* 160 Fla. 580, 35 So.2d 844 (1948); Section 47.011, Fla. Stat. (1989). Accordingly, the motion should have been dismissed by the trial court upon the grounds of lack of jurisdiction and improper forum and venue.

ΙI,

THE MOTION TO VACATE IS A SUCCESSIVE MOTION AND ITS FILING CONSTITUTED AN ABUSE OF PROCESS.

- 8 -

Even if the instant claim of error was cognizable in a Rule 3.850 motion, venue proper, and the trial court not without jurisdiction to grant the relief sought, Buenoano's second motion for post-conviction relief should nevertheless be dismissed because it is *successive* in nature. Buenoano filed her *first* motion for post-conviction relief containing twenty-one claims on or about January 18, 1990. This motion was summarily denied by the trial court by order dated January 23, 1990, and such decision was subsequently affirmed by this court. Buenoano v. State, 15 F.L.W. 196 (Fla. April 5, 1990). Florida Rule **of** Criminal Procedure 3.850 provides that a second or successive motion for post-conviction relief may be dismissed in the event that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, that the failure to raise those grounds in the previous motion constitutes an abuse of procedure.

The State of Florida asserts that the instant motion raises a new or different ground for relief which was available to counsel prior to the filing of Buenoano's original motion. Although Buenoano argues that her failure to raise this issue in her previous motion for post-conviction relief should be excused because the facts upon which the motion is based were unknown to counsel prior to the filing of the original motion, review of the abundance of decisional authority addressing this claim which <u>antedates</u> Buenoano's previous motion refutes Buenoano's contention that her failure to raise this claim in her prior motion should be excused.

- 9 -

It has long been recognized that a single, unforeseeable accident attending the carrying out of an execution does not establish the method itself to be unconstitutional. Glass v. Louisiana, **471** U.S. 1080, 105 S.Ct. 2159, 85 L.Ed.2d 514 (1985) (Brennan, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari). In recounting the problems which may attend an execution by electrocution, Justice Brennan in Glass v. Louisiana, supra, noted the execution of John Lewis Evans during which an electrode apparently exploded under the strap which was binding Mr. Evans' left leg. "A large puff of greyish smoke and sparks poured out from under the hood that covered Mr. Evans' face." 90 L.Ed.2d at Like Mr. Tafero, Mr. Evans also received three charges of 523. electricity. Id.; see also, Ingraham v. Wright, 498 F, 2d 248 (5th Cir. 1974) (questionable whether the Eighth Amendment extends to encompass negligence). Inasmuch as technical difficulties similar to those attending Mr. Tafero's execution which have occasionally been encountered have been the subject of comment by the courts prior to the filing of Buenoano's original motion for post-conviction relief, Buenoano's failure to raise this claim in her previous motion should not be excused by this court. See. Stewart v. State, 495 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1986). Eight executions have been carried out since 1986 with the only unforeseeable glitch occurring in the Tafero execution The affidavit to the motion for rehearing establishes only that the electric chair was routinely maintenanced by D.O.C.

III,

BUENOANO IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING AN ISSUE WHICH COULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL AND AT THE TRIAL LEVEL.

Furthermore, even if this claim were not procedurally barred as a result of Buenoano's failure to raise it in her previous motion for post-conviction relief, it is nevertheless procedurally barred from present consideration due to Buenoano's procedural default in the trial court and on direct appeal. The recognized possibility of glitches in the implementation of any method of execution notwithstanding, the claim that death by electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment has repeatedly been summarily rejected by the courts. Porter u. Wainwright, 805 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 1986); Sullivan u. Dugger, 721 F.2d 719 (11th Cir. 1983); Spinkellink u. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 976, 99 S.Ct. 1548, 59 L.Ed.2d 796; Gregg u. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976); Louisiana ex rel. Francis v. Resweber, 329 U.S. 459, 67 S.Ct. 374, 91 L.Ed.2d 422 (1947); In re Kemmler, 136 U.S. 436, 10 S.Ct. 930, 34 L.Ed.2d 519 (1980); Booker u. State, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 957, 102 S.Ct. 493, 70 L.Ed.2d 261 (1981).

Inasmuch as the underlying basis of Buenoano's current claim has been litigated on numerous occasions prior to Buenoano's trial, the claim could have and should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal (as well as in Buenoano's previous motion). *See*, Section II, *supra*. Accordingly, this claim was properly summarily denied by the trial court as a result of Buenoano's procedural default in failing to urge this claim until her execution under a second death warrant was imminent.

IV.

THE PENALTY IS NOT CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Finally, even if consideration of this claim on the merits is proper, Buenoano cannot make a *prima facie* showing that she is entitled to relief, as the execution of the death penalty by electrocution has been found to be constitutional by all state and federal courts. *See*, Section 111, *supra*.

v.

BUENOANO IS NOT ENTITLED TO HABEAS CORPUS RELIEF.

In the event Buenoano should ask this court to treat the instant appeal as a petition for writ of habeas corpus or for extraordinary relief or actually file the same, she is still entitled to no relief. Failure to preserve an issue at trial or raise it on direct appeal procedurally bars the habeas corpus court's consideration of the issue. Parker u. Dugger, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1989). "Habeas Corpus is not a vehicle for obtaining a second appeal of issues which were raised, or should have been raised, on direct appeal or which were waived at trial." Blanco *u. Wainwright*, 507 So, 2d 1377, 1384 (Fla. 1987). Habeas corpus petitions are not to be used for additional appeals on questions which could have been, should have been, or were raised on appeal or in a rule 3.850 motion, or on matters that were not objected to at trial. Parker u. Dugger, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1989).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, the State of Florida respectfully requests that this honorable court affirm the summary denial of the motion to vacate and deny any and all other requested relief.